

Hunting and Fishing: Issues and Legislation in the 113th Congress

-name redacted-

Specialist in Natural Resources Policy

July 7, 2014

Congressional Research Service

7-....

www.crs.gov

R43629

Summary

For several years, the House and Senate have been considering various approaches to improve hunting and recreational fishing opportunities both on and off federal lands. The Bipartisan Sportsmen's Act of 2014 (S. 2363) is pending in the Senate, and addresses many of the same topics considered by recent Congresses.

Hunting, fishing, and conservation have been linked since the advent of federal wildlife legislation. Among early examples are the Lacey Act of 1900, the first federal wildlife law, which made it a federal crime to ship game killed in violation of one state's laws to another state, and the Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918, which regulated the killing, hunting, buying, or selling of migratory birds. Today's controversies concern, among other things, exactly what hunting, fishing, or shooting sports should be allowed on federal land, and when. S. 2363 seeks to increase the priority of hunting, trapping, fishing, and recreational shooting on federal lands.

S. 2363 would also address the issuance of import permits to trophy hunters who legally killed Canadian polar bears in the months before the species was listed under the Endangered Species Act. These hunters have not been allowed to import their trophies; the bill would allow specified imports of these trophies.

The bill would amend the federal duck stamp program to allow electronic sales of duck stamps in any state that meets certain requirements for such sales. It would also allow the Secretary of the Interior to increase the price of the stamp at specified intervals. Such a change, which would provide additional funding for acquisition of waterfowl habitat, has been advocated by many waterfowl hunters for several years.

The bill also addresses somewhat related miscellaneous issues: filming permits on public lands, baiting of game birds, federal land transfers, changes to the management of the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation, and other matters.

S. 2363 was not referred to a committee, and consequently lacks a committee report. It was placed on Senate Legislative Calendar under General Orders on May 20, 2014; on May 22, 2014, a motion to proceed to consideration of the measure was made in the Senate.

Contents

Introduction	1
Electronic Duck Stamps	1
Lead Sinkers and Ammunition	1
Shooting Range Support from Pittman-Robertson Program	2
Subsistence Take of Migratory Birds	
Polar Bear Import Permits	
Baiting of Migratory Game Birds	4
Hunting, Trapping, Fishing, and Recreational Shooting	
Definitions	
Definition of Federal Public Land	
Definition of Hunting	
Definition of Recreational Fishing	
Definition of Recreational Shooting	
Management of Federal Lands	
Closing or Limiting Lands to Hunting, Fishing, or Recreational Shooting	
Criteria for Closing Federal Lands Generally	
Criteria for Closing BLM and Forest Service Lands	9
Criteria for Closing Lands Over 1,280 Acres Excluding BLM or Forest Service Lands	1.0
Criteria for Closing Lands in an Emergency	
Planning Documents	
Reports to Congress.	
Limitation of Liability for Shooting Ranges	
State Authority	
Federal Licenses and Fees	
Filming on Federal Lands	
Acquisition of Lands to Promote Hunting Access	13
Federal Land Transaction Facilitation Act	14
Wetlands Conservation	15
National Fish and Wildlife Foundation Act	15
Contacts	
Author Contact Information	1 <i>6</i>
Aalznawladamanta	1.6

Introduction

Several issues related to hunting, fishing, and recreational shooting on federal and state lands are addressed in various bills in the 113th Congress. Hunting and conservation have been linked since the advent of federal wildlife legislation, such as the Lacey Act of 1900¹ (the first federal wildlife law, making it a federal crime to ship game killed in violation of one state's laws to another state) or the Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918² (regulating the killing, hunting, buying, or selling of migratory birds). Controversy exists about exactly what hunting, fishing, or shooting sports currently are allowed on federal land and when. Under current law, opening more lands to hunting, fishing, and recreational shooting is to be balanced against good game management, public safety, resource management, and the statutory purposes of the lands.

This report focuses on the Bipartisan Sportsmen's Act of 2014 (S. 2363), now pending in the Senate. It addresses various issues of interest to sportsmen and Congress.³ Among other things, it covers land management priorities for hunting, trapping, fishing, and recreational shooting on various categories of federal lands; changes to the duck stamp program; recreational shooting; imports of polar bear trophies; hunting waterfowl over baited fields; and funding for land acquisition to support hunter access.

Electronic Duck Stamps

Section 101 of S. 2363 concerns duck stamps.⁴ Currently, duck stamps are purchased by hunters for the right to hunt migratory birds; proceeds from their sale go to the Migratory Bird Conservation Fund (MBCF) for acquisition of migratory bird habitat for inclusion in the National Wildlife Refuge System. Stamps are good for one year, and cost \$15, a price set in legislation in 1991.⁵ Since 2008, a pilot program has tested the feasibility of the sale of duck stamps through the Internet; a number of states now participate in the pilot program. In other states, stamps continue to be available at U.S. post offices or other approved sites.

S. 2363 would permanently authorize the electronic issuance of duck stamps. States would apply to the Secretary of the Interior for authority to issue the electronic stamps, under a procedure specified in the section. Provisions for revocation of state authority to issue electronic stamps are included.

Lead Sinkers and Ammunition

Section 102 of S. 2363 would exempt lead shot, ammunition, and fishing sinkers from provisions of the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA).⁶ The section would prohibit regulation under TSCA

² Act of July 3, 1918, c. 128, §2, 40 Stat. 755.

-

¹ Act of May 25, 1900, §3, 31 Stat. 187.

³ Other bills of interest to sportsmen have been introduced; some have been incorporated into one or more of these bills. Others have made less progress to date through the legislative process and are not addressed in this report.

⁴ Duck stamps are known more formally as Federal Migratory Bird Hunting and Conservation Stamps.

⁵ FWS has supported an increase in the price of the stamp to \$25 in every budget justification since FY2009.

^{6 15} U.S.C. §2602(2)(B), S. 2363.

of "shot, bullets and other projectiles, propellants, and primers" and "any sport fishing equipment." The bill further adds that the section does not limit the need to comply with other federal, state, or local laws.

This provision appears to seek legislative certainty for a denied citizen petition to force the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to regulate lead in ammunition and in fishing sinkers. On August 27, 2010, EPA denied one portion of the petition relating to the production of lead for use in ammunition, stating that the agency did not have legal authority to regulate ammunition under TSCA. EPA continued to evaluate the petition with respect to fishing tackle and accepted public comments until September 15, 2010. EPA denied that portion of the petition on November 4, 2010. On April 30, 2012, a lawsuit challenging the denial was dismissed. On June 7, 2012, a suit was filed challenging EPA's 2012 denial of a new petition to regulate lead shot under TSCA. The court rejected the plaintiffs' case in July 2013, and an appeal has been filed.

These provisions would prevent federal regulation through TSCA, but not through other statutory authorities: lead shot has been banned in the United States for the hunting of migratory waterfowl since 1991 under authority of the Migratory Bird Treaty Act and the Endangered Species Act.¹² Consequently, it is unclear what effect the provision might have.

Shooting Range Support from Pittman-Robertson Program

Section 103 of S. 2363 is designated the Target Practice and Marksmanship Training Support Act. It would allow territories and states to use more of the funds allocated to them under the Pittman-Robertson Wildlife Restoration Act (16 U.S.C. §669) for projects involving land acquisition, construction, and expansion of public target ranges for firearms or archery. A state's allocation of federal funds may currently be used to support a maximum of 75% of any project, with the remainder coming from nonfederal sources. Section 103 would amend 16 U.S.C. §669h-1(a), apparently intending to increase the maximum federal share from the Pittman-Robertson (P-R) program from 75% to 90%, for projects acquiring land for, expanding, or constructing target ranges. However, the bill contains a provision stating that a state "may pay up to 90 percent of the cost of acquiring land for, expanding, or constructing a public target range." On its face, the language appears to give a state federal approval to pay for nearly all of the cost of a project. However, it is more likely that the purpose is to allow a state to use its P-R allocation of federal funds to pay for up to 90% of the cost of a project, with the state (or other nonfederal sources)

⁷ Comments are posted in the rulemaking docket, which is identified as EPA-HQ-OPPT-2010-0681 at http://www.regulations.gov/.

⁸ For more information on the EPA position on the regulation of lead in ammunition and lead sinkers, see CRS General Distribution Memorandum, "Petition for Regulation of Lead in Fishing Sinkers and Ammunition by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency," by (name redacted), March 16, 2012, available from the author.

⁹ Center for Biological Diversity v. Jackson, No. 1:10-CV-2007 (D.D.C. April 30, 2012).

¹⁰ Trumpeter Swan Society v. Environmental Protection Agency, No. 1:12-cv-00929 (D.D.C. complaint filed June 7, 2012).

¹¹ Trumpeter Swan Society v. Environmental Protection Agency, No. 1:12-cv-00929 (D.D.C. order filed July 22, 2013).

¹² 53 Fed. Reg. 24284 (June 28, 1988). See also 50 C.F.R. §20.21.

¹³ See http://federalasst.fws.gov/ for more information about the FWS Wildlife Restoration Program.

needing to pay for no more than 10% of the project. There is no committee report to clarify the intent of the provision.¹⁴

The bill would define a *public target range*, for the purposes of P-R, specifying that it is a location identified by a government agency, is open to the public, may be supervised, and accommodates archery or rifle, pistol, or shotgun shooting.

Subsistence Take of Migratory Birds

S. 2363 (Section 104) would exempt Alaska Natives who are subsistence users from 16 U.S.C. 718a, which requires waterfowl hunters to purchase the duck stamp.

Polar Bear Import Permits

Before May 15, 2008, when the listing of polar bears as a threatened species under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) took effect, it was legal under U.S. law to import polar bear trophies legally taken in Canada. After that date, import was not allowed. Once the proposed rule to list polar bears as a threatened species was published in January 2007, an extensive campaign was conducted by the Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) to alert hunters to the potential impact of ESA listing on the ability to import polar bear trophies. However, FWS continued to authorize the import of polar bear trophies under existing law until the ESA listing became final. The permitting process was truncated by court order, making the listing effective immediately rather than after 30 days.¹⁵

S. 2363 (Section 105) would amend the Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA)¹⁶ to allow hunters with polar bear trophies legally hunted in Canada to import these trophies to the United States. 17 It would direct FWS to issue permits for importing these sport-hunted trophies, if a permit was sought before May 15, 2008. It would further amend the MMPA to provide that the permits may be issued regardless of the polar bears' status as a depleted species, which is the basis on which the permits were denied.

FWS does not oppose legislation allowing importation for hunters who both applied for an import permit and completed their legal hunt prior to ESA listing. 18 Others oppose allowing these permits, believing it would encourage hunting of species whose listing is imminent. The Humane

¹⁴ Also, there may be a conflict between the proposed separation of funding in a new 16 U.S.C. §669g(b)(1) and (2), and a cross-reference in 16 U.S.C. §669h-1(a)(2). Section 669h-1(a)(2) currently limits states to "the amount described in Section 669g(b) ... for the construction, operation and maintenance of public target ranges." However, the revised Section 669g, as proposed in both of these bills, breaks expenses into two components: operation and maintenance (669g(b)(1)); and acquiring land for, expanding, or constructing (669g(b)(2)), seemingly with a 75% limit for the former and a new 90% limit for the latter. Thus, a conforming amendment to §669h-1(a)(2) may be necessary to clarify which of the two limits is intended.

¹⁵ Center for Biological Diversity v. Kempthorne, No. C 08-1339, 2008 WL 1902703 (N.D. Cal. April 28, 2008).

¹⁶ 16 U.S.C. §1361 et seq.

¹⁷ According to agency records, between 41 and 44 hunters would be eligible for the permit.

¹⁸ Testimony of Rowan Gould, Acting Director, FWS, before the House Subcommittee on Fisheries, Wildlife, Oceans and Insular Affairs (May 12, 2011), available at http://www.fws.gov/laws/Testimony/112th/2011/ Gould May%2011.html.

Society of the United States testified in the 112th Congress that allowing polar bear imports would "would roll back polar bear conservation efforts and set a dangerous precedent for gutting the protections provided under the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Endangered Species Act." A federal court has upheld the current permit ban, finding that there was no procedural flaw in blocking permits as of the day the bear was listed as threatened.²⁰

Baiting of Migratory Game Birds

Hunting of migratory game birds over baited fields is forbidden by the Migratory Bird Treaty Act²¹ and its implementing regulations. There is little controversy over whether such hunting is an unsportsmanlike practice that should not be allowed. There is, however, controversy over precisely what constitutes *baiting*, how long hunters should wait after an agricultural field has been harvested to avoid the baiting prohibition, and whether the effects of natural disasters might affect whether a field is considered baited. Section 106 of S. 2363 addresses these issues by allowing hunting over crops in certain circumstances.

Section 106 defines a *bait area* as an area where there has been the placement of salt grain, or feed to attract game birds; and an area where there has been manipulation of unharvested cropland (e.g., through mowing or discing), unless the manipulation is a normal agricultural practice. It then explicitly excludes from the definition any areas (a) with a treatment that is a normal agricultural practice, (b) with unmanipulated standing crops, or (c) with standing crops that are or were flooded. The last provision appears to exclude flooded cropland, whether naturally or artificially flooded.

The section defines *normal agricultural practice*. Some features of this long definition are particularly noteworthy. First, the practice is to be considered normal if recommended by the state office of the Cooperative Extension System of the Department of Agriculture.²² In addition, the applicable state game department is to be consulted and, if requested, may be asked to concur. It is unclear who may do the requesting, and what would be the effect if the applicable state game department does not concur. A normal agricultural practice is also defined to include the destruction of crops as required by the Federal Crop Insurance Corporation to obtain a crop insurance payment after a natural disaster.

Section 106 also requires an annual report from the Secretary of Agriculture to the Secretary of the Interior on any changes to normal agricultural practices.

¹⁹ Testimony of Michael Markarian, Chief Program and Policy Officer, Humane Society of the United States, before the House Subcommittee on Fisheries, Wildlife, Oceans and Insular Affairs, hearing on H.R. 991 (May 12, 2011), available at http://www.humanesociety.org/assets/pdfs/legislation/testimony-michael-markarian-h-r-1054.pdf.

²⁰ In re Polar Bear Endangered Species Act Listing and §4(d) Rule Litigation, 818 F. Supp. 2d 240 (D.D.C. 2011).

²¹ 16 U.S.C. §§703-712.

²² In context, this is presumably the U.S. Department of Agriculture. If so, the name of the Cooperative Extension System has been changed to the National Institute of Food and Agriculture. Congress may wish to correct this provision.

Hunting, Trapping, Fishing, and Recreational Shooting

Section 107 of S. 2363 addresses hunting, trapping, fishing, and recreational shooting on federal land, and appears to create an "open until closed" management policy for federal lands. It describes the factors a land management agency must consider to justify closing federal lands to hunting, trapping, fishing, or recreational shooting. The steps include specific criteria for closure determinations, revising planning documents, and filing reports with Congress. This analysis will focus potential impacts of Section 107 on lands managed by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) and the Forest Service (FS). While the bill's definition of federal public lands explicitly excludes National Park Service (NPS) and Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) lands, it may include other federal public land. (See below.)

Definitions

Definition of Federal Public Land

Section 107 defines *federal public land* broadly. The term *federal public land* means "any land or water that is ... owned by the United States; and ... managed by a Federal agency (including the Department of the Interior and the Forest Service) for purposes that include the conservation of natural resources." The definition then specifically exempts (a) lands or waters held in trust for the benefit of Indian tribes or individual Indians; (b) lands under the jurisdiction of NPS or FWS; (c) fish hatcheries; and (d) conservation easements on private land.

While there is no other existing statutory definition of *federal public land*, the Federal Land Policy and Management Act (FLPMA) defines *public lands* as BLM lands.²³ The Section 107 definition is broader than the FLPMA definition, and arguably could be interpreted to include all federal lands except those belonging to NPS and FWS. As a result, even though most of the rest of the bill appears to target only BLM and the Forest Service, the bill could include lands under other agencies, such as the Bureau of Reclamation, the Department of Defense²⁴ (including the Army Corps of Engineers),²⁵ the Department of Energy, and the Department of Commerce, all of which have natural resource conservation as a purpose. A similar, inclusive definition of *federal lands* was used in the Energy Policy Act of 2005, which referred to a number of departments as being necessary to establish rights of way on federal lands: Agriculture, Commerce, Defense,

²³ FLPMA §103(e); 43 U.S.C. §1702(e): "any land and interest in land owned by the United States within the several States and administered by the Secretary of the Interior through the Bureau of Land Management ... except (1) lands located on the Outer Continental Shelf; and (2) lands held for the benefit of Indians, Aleuts, and Eskimos."

²⁴ The Department of Defense (DOD) owns 20,809,157 acres of the 27,875,707 acres it controls. DOD, Defense Base Structure Report, FY2011 Baseline, available online at http://www.acq.osd.mil/ie/download/bsr/bsr2011baseline.pdf.

²⁵ The Army Corps of Engineers own 7.6 million acres, manages an additional 4.1 million acres, and its reservoirs' surfaces represent an additional 26.25 million acres. While the agency's primary missions are flood damage reduction, navigation, and ecosystem restoration (16 U.S.C. §3956), many of the agency's water resources facilities are operated for multiple purposes including fish and wildlife (16 U.S.C. §661, 16 U.S.C. §460*l*-12), recreation (16 U.S.C. §460*l*-12), and water supply storage (43 U.S.C. §390b, 33 U.S.C. §708). For information on Corps of Engineers management, see CRS Report R41243, *Army Corps of Engineers: Water Resource Authorizations, Appropriations, and Activities*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

Energy, and the Interior.²⁶ Also, as multiple executive orders direct all agencies with land to preserve the environment, it could be interpreted that any such agency has as a purpose the "conservation of natural resources"²⁷ and would be covered by Section 107 of S. 2363.

If the Section 107 definition reaches more lands than was intended, the scope could be contained by referring to specific management agencies in the definition rather than trying to describe lands. This approach is used in other legislation. The Federal Lands Recreation Enhancement Act (FLREA), for example, defines *federal land management agency* as "the National Park Service, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, the Bureau of Land Management, the Bureau of Reclamation, or the Forest Service."

Definition of Hunting

Section 107(a) defines hunting to mean "the use of a firearm, bow or other authorized means in the lawful ... pursuit, shooting, capture, collection, trapping, or killing of wildlife; or attempt to pursue, shoot, capture, collect, trap, or kill wildlife."

The definition includes trapping, an activity that is not traditionally included under this term. Trapping is allowed under some circumstances on some federal lands, but the use of traps (particularly a design called leghold traps) has been controversial and is less common than traditional hunting on federal lands.

While the definition in Section 107 concerns *hunting*, the word *recreational* precedes it 16 times and it is not clear if this modifier applies to hunting as well as shooting and fishing.³⁰ The bill does not draw a distinction between hunting and recreational hunting. Similarly, the provision addressing licensing in Section 107(b)(9)(B)(i) refers to "fish, hunt, and trap," which also appears to be inconsistent with the definition, which includes trapping within the definition of hunting. In addition, Section 107(b)(6) refers to "activities relating to fishing or hunting," potentially expanding the allowed activities.

Definition of Recreational Fishing

Section 107(a)(4) defines *recreational fishing* as "an activity for sport or pleasure that involves ... the lawful ... catching, taking, or harvesting of fish; or ... attempted catching, taking, or harvesting of fish; or ... any other activity for sport or pleasure that can reasonably be expected to result in the lawful catching, taking, or harvesting of fish."

²⁶ P.L. 109-58, §368(a); 42 U.S.C. §15926(a).

²⁷ See, e.g., Exec. Order No. 11990 (each agency shall take action to protect against harming wetlands); Exec. Order No. 13112 (directing agencies to stop actions that would spread invasive species); Exec. Order No. 13186 (directing each agency to protect against harming migratory birds); Exec. Order No. 11514 (each agency shall develop programs to enhance environmental quality).

²⁸ P.L. 108-447, §802; 16 U.S.C. §6801 note. Typically, the Bureau of Reclamation is not included in lists of federal land management agencies.

²⁹ The issue of possessing firearms on federal lands is outside the scope of this report. For information on that topic, see CRS Report RL32842, *Gun Control Legislation*, by (name redacted).

³⁰ This reference occurs where the phrase *recreational fishing, hunting, or recreational shooting* is used, and it is not clear whether the modifier "recreational" applies just to fishing.

Definition of Recreational Shooting

Section 107(a) defines *recreational shooting* as "any form of sport, training, competition, or pastime, whether formal or informal, that involves ... the discharge of a rifle, handgun, or shotgun, or ... the use of a bow and arrow." The definition appears to include hunting; shooting ranges; informal target practice; and war reenactments, both formal and informal. It appears those activities were intended to be included and encouraged on all of the federal public land as defined in Section 107. Recreational shooting, including shooting ranges, on some of the other lands that might be included in this bill would likely be controversial. However, because of some controversy over the continued existence of shooting ranges on certain Forest Service or BLM lands, it may be that only those lands were intended to be affected by the promotion of shooting ranges. 33

Management of Federal Lands

Section 107(b) of S. 2363 generally directs the heads of federal public land management agencies to facilitate use of and access to lands for hunting (defined to include trapping), fishing, and recreational shooting. Section 107(b)(2) would require that each land management agency act (1) in a manner that supports and facilitates hunting, fishing, and recreational shooting opportunities; (2) to the extent authorized under applicable state law; and (3) in accordance with applicable federal law. This provision may raise questions because state law does not *authorize* actions on federal land. Instead, federal management is exercised to the extent consistent with state law, which establishes hunting seasons, game species, fishing licenses, etc.

While agencies must manage public lands to facilitate those activities, Section 107(b)(7) states that the title does not require "a Federal agency to give preference to recreational fishing, hunting, or shooting over other uses of Federal public land." This provision is an example of the apparent tension in the bill between directing federal agencies generally to allow more hunting, fishing, and shooting and to facilitate such activities procedurally, versus an effort to maintain some existing management structures and policies.

Section 107 is complicated by a switch in directives from all federal public land agencies (minus some stated exceptions) at the beginning of the section, to only those managed by BLM or FS beginning at Section 107(b)(4).

Section 107(b)(4)(C) of S. 2363 states that agency heads of BLM and FS may use existing authorities to lease or permit use of lands for shooting ranges and to designate specific lands for recreational shooting activities. While Section 107(b)(4) applies explicitly to BLM and the Forest Service, Section 107(b)(4)(C) directs the "head of each Federal public land agency" to address recreational shooting, the general term used in the rest of S. 2363. It is not clear whether the provision is limited to BLM and FS.

³¹ The omission of the word *lawful* appears to be an oversight: The section uses *lawful* in the definitions of hunting and recreational fishing.

³² See "Definition of Federal Public Land."

³³ Use of certain public lands for shooting ranges is not necessarily a cause of controversy. For example, certain BLM public lands in Wyoming have been used as a shooting range for over 30 years under a special use permit for a private club. S. 2015 in the 112th Congress would have transferred title to the land conditionally to the club. BLM supported the transfer; the bill passed the Senate but was not considered in the House.

A separate management directive is found in Section 107(b)(8), which requires agency heads to consult with advisory councils established in two executive orders. The first, Executive Order 12962,³⁴ establishes a recreational fisheries council. The second, Executive Order 13443,³⁵ however, does not create an advisory council. Instead, it refers to the Sporting Conservation Council, which was established a year earlier by the Department of the Interior.³⁶

Section 107(b)(3)(B) would direct that, on federal lands where hunting is prohibited by law, federal land planning documents shall allow skilled volunteers to assist in culling and other management of wildlife populations. However, this change in land planning documents may be avoided if the head of the agency demonstrates, based on the best available scientific evidence or applicable federal law, that skilled volunteers should not be used for this purpose. This would change the existing practice in which employees of Wildlife Services of the Department of Agriculture are used.

Closing or Limiting Lands to Hunting, Fishing, or Recreational Shooting

Because the premise of S. 2363 is that lands will be open unless closed, Section 107 establishes processes for when and how those lands can be closed to hunting, fishing, or recreational shooting.

At issue is the fact that some criteria required by Section 107(b)(3)(A) may not have been used in developing land plans by BLM, the Forest Service, or the other federal land ownerships that may or may not be covered in Section 107. Definitions introduced in S. 2363 could mean that existing plans have not considered the activities as defined. The bill is silent as to whether those existing plans may remain in place until they can be revised; whether those plans must all be revised immediately; or whether all lands are open to hunting, fishing, and recreational shooting upon the bill's enactment, regardless of restrictions in existing plans, until new plans using the new criteria are finalized

Criteria for Closing Federal Lands Generally

Section 107(b)(1) of S. 2363 directs agencies to "exercise their authority under existing law ... to facilitate use of and access to Federal public lands." It creates a three-prong test for when agencies may close lands:

• existing law, "including regulation," authorizes limits for reasons of national security, public safety, or resource conservation;³⁸

³⁴ Exec. Order No. 12962; 60 Fed. Reg. 30769 (June 9, 1995).

³⁵ Exec. Order No. 13443; 72 Fed. Reg. 46537 (August 20, 2007).

³⁶ Department of the Interior press release (March 23, 2006), available online at http://www.doi.gov/archive/news/06 News Releases/060323b.htm.

³⁷ References to "Federal public land management officials" or "Federal public land management agency" within Section 107 could be interpreted to include any agency that owns land, except for those specifically excluded; see "Definition of Federal Public Land," above.

³⁸ Both BLM and FS have authorizing statutes directing conservation of resources: BLM (FLPMA) and Forest Service (National Forest Management Act). Other lands that may be included in this bill, depending on the interpretation of (continued...)

- existing law specifically precludes recreational fishing, hunting, or recreational shooting on specific lands or waters; or
- discretionary limitations on hunting, fishing, and recreational shooting are determined to be necessary and reasonable as supported by the best scientific evidence and advanced through a transparent public process.

The last prong, Section 107(b)(1)(C), appears to establish new criteria for closing lands, rather than using existing statutory authority. As a result, all agencies' planning processes may require an additional step to determine land uses if limits on those activities are imposed.

In addition, Section 107(b)(1) would require an evaluation to curtail activities based on three subjective phrases:

- necessary and reasonable;
- supported by the best scientific evidence;³⁹ and
- advanced through a transparent public process.

As written, these three phrases require interpretation by the agencies incorporating them into their land planning practices, and likely also by courts, when groups disagree with an agency's interpretation or application.

Criteria for Closing BLM and Forest Service Lands

Section 107(b)(4) applies only to BLM and Forest Service lands and explicitly directs that those lands "shall be open to recreational fishing, hunting, and recreational shooting unless the managing Federal public land agency acts to close the land to the activity." This differs from the Section 107(b)(1) language that directs land management agencies to "facilitate use of and access to" lands for those activities.

Although Section 107(b)(1) does not limit its application to any type of federal lands except those encompassed in its definition of federal public lands, it may be that the more specific criteria in Section 107(b)(4) supersedes application of Section 107(b)(1) to BLM or the Forest Service. However, it may also be interpreted that Section 107(b)(4) provides additional criteria for BLM and Forest Service closures, or gives managers a choice of criteria. Unlike Section 107(b)(1), it could be found that these criteria are consistent with existing land planning practices.⁴⁰

Under Section 107(b)(4), the head of the agency may close or limit lands available for hunting, fishing, or shooting, when it is necessary and reasonable and supported by facts and evidence. Lands may be limited for purposes including the following:

_

federal public lands, may or may not have such statutes.

^{(...}continued)

³⁹ Typically, this phrase includes the term "available," to set an achievable limit on the science. This is how the term is used in Section 104(c)(2), for example.

⁴⁰ In either case, the fact that somewhat different procedures are specified for BLM and FS lands specifically, lends weight to the argument that the general definition of federal public land in S. 2363 encompasses more than the lands under these two agencies.

- resource conservation,
- public safety,
- energy or mineral production,
- energy generation or transmission infrastructure,
- water supply facilities,
- protection of other permittees,
- protection of private property rights or interests,
- national security, or
- compliance with other law.

This appears to allow BLM and the Forest Service to base land closure decisions on something other than the "based on the best scientific evidence" and "advanced through a transparent public process," as required by Section 107(b)(1). It is not clear why different criteria are established for BLM and Forest Service management decisions than for whatever other federal public land agencies may be covered by this bill.

These criteria seem to be in addition to the existing management criteria dictated by federal land management laws, for example, FLPMA and the National Forest Management Act (NFMA),⁴¹ and would add to agencies' planning responsibilities.

Criteria for Closing Lands Over 1,280 Acres Excluding BLM or Forest Service Lands

Section 107(b)(6) requires a process for the "permanent or temporary withdrawal, change of classification, or change of management status ... that effectively closes or significantly restricts 1280 or more contiguous acres of Federal public land to access or use for fishing or hunting." Unlike most provisions in Section 107, Section 107(b)(6) does not include recreational shooting as an activity that triggers coverage. Additionally, it excludes closures under Section 107(b)(4), meaning it excludes those closures on BLM and the Forest Service lands. Closures, except for emergency closures, must follow this procedure:

- publish appropriate notice;
- demonstrate that coordination has occurred with a state fish and wildlife agency;
 and
- submit written notice to the House Committee on Natural Resources and the Senate Committee on Energy and Natural Resources.

Short-term closures, such as for a day or a week, are not exempted. (But see "Criteria for Closing Lands in an Emergency," below.)

⁴¹ 16 U.S.C. §§1601-1606.

⁴² 640 acres is a square mile and is a unit of measurement used in federal land management since the late 1700s.

Aggregation of Closure Areas

Section 107(b)(6)(A) addresses aggregate effects of multiple closures for areas that are smaller than 1,280 acres each. It states that if "separate withdrawals or changes effectively close or significantly restrict 1280 or more acres of land or water, the withdrawals and changes shall be treated as a single withdrawal or change for purposes of [Section 107(b)(6)(A)]." This aggregation appears to apply to the cumulative closures among all agencies, and it requires no geographical link among the closures, and therefore closures of 200-acre plots in 10 different states could amount to a closure that required reporting and publication. Although not clear, it appears that this section does not apply to BLM or Forest Service lands. 43 Currently, there is no coordinating body among federal land agencies to manage the requirements of Section 107(b)(6).

Criteria for Closing Lands in an Emergency

Section 107(b)(6)(C) allows an agency in an emergency to close "the smallest practicable area to provide for public safety, resource conservation, national security, or other purposes authorized by law." *Emergency* is not defined. The emergency closures terminate "after a reasonable period of time." Although emergency closures are allowed, Section 107(b)(6)(C) is silent as to whether agencies still must follow the notice and reporting requirements established elsewhere in the section.

Planning Documents

The decisions clarifying which lands are closed to hunting, fishing, and shooting will be part of an agency's planning document. Section 107(b)(3) of S. 2363 requires that each planning document "include a specific evaluation of the effects of the plans on opportunities to engage in recreational fishing, hunting, or recreational shooting." Although many federal lands, especially those of BLM, FWS, and FS, are open to hunting and fishing, recreational shooting is less common. For example, it is unlikely agencies have evaluated recreational shooting as broadly defined in this bill, when making existing land use plans. Moreover, because of possible ambiguities as to the lands covered in this bill, it is not clear whether all affected lands would have planning documents analogous to those of FS and BLM.

Because Section 107 does not establish any deadlines for instituting most of these practices, it is unclear if all planning documents must be changed immediately or if management changes could be incorporated when the document is next revised. Either Section 107 is intended to require immediate revision of land use plans where practices were not compatible, or many portions of the bill would not go into effect until the agency's plan came up for revision. In the case of some agency plans, those revisions may not occur for 15 years. Another interpretation is that the lands are open upon the law's enactment regardless of the current plan. This reading appears possible in the instance of BLM and Forest Service lands, in light of the directive in Section 107(b)(4) that those lands "shall be open ... unless the managing Federal agency acts to close lands."

-

⁴³ Only Section 107(b)(6)(A) explicitly excludes BLM and FS lands, but it would be inconsistent to eliminate those lands from the provisions for closures for 1,280 acres or more, but not also the aggregation of closures. Further, this exclusion of BLM and FS land indicates that the definition of Federal public land in this bill is intended to apply to more than lands managed by these two agencies.

Additionally, it is not clear what parts of S. 2363 would trigger a plan revision. For example, the definition of hunting, which includes trapping, could require all land management plans that allowed hunting but not trapping to be revised. Agencies would incur costs to revise existing plans, as those plans are subject to public review processes.⁴⁴

Reports to Congress

Two provisions of S. 2363 require federal land management agencies to notify Congress of restrictions on hunting, fishing, and recreational shooting. If an agency closes federal land to those activities, Section 107(b)(5) requires the agency heads to submit a report every two years to the House Committee on Natural Resources and the Senate Committee on Energy and Natural Resources. Despite the biennial reporting requirement, the bill directs the reports to describe only those closures happening in the previous year, thereby raising questions as to what is intended.

An additional reporting mandate is found in Section 107(b)(6), which requires notice to congressional committees of closures affecting 1,280 acres or more. While no deadline is established, the areas cannot be closed until those committees are given notice.

It is not clear whether the reporting requirements within Section 107 are intended to replace or supplement the reporting requirements in FLPMA. Section 202 of FLPMA requires BLM to report to Congress when it closes land to principal or major uses when the land is 100,000 acres or more, and if that land will be closed for two or more years.⁴⁵

Limitation of Liability for Shooting Ranges

Section 107(b)(4) of S. 2363 includes a waiver of liability for the federal government for claims related to shooting ranges. Because Section 107(b)(4) does not refer to the term "Federal public land," and in light of the narrow application of Section 107(b)(4)(A), the limitation of liability may apply only to BLM and Forest Service lands. It is not clear what was intended. The liability limitation does not appear to apply to other recreational shooting activities, however.

State Authority

Section 107(b)(9) of S. 2363 states that nothing in the section "interferes with, diminishes, or conflicts with the authority, jurisdiction, or responsibility of any State to manage, control, or regulate fish and wildlife under State law (including regulations) on land or water within the State, including on Federal public land." Other provisions also indicate that the bill is not intended to interfere with state law, as discussed above: Section 107(b)(2)—management of federal lands will be to the extent authorized by state law; Section 107(b)(3)(B)—use of volunteers to cull animals will be in cooperation with state agencies; and Section 107(b)(6)—closures of lands with a total area of 1,280 acres or more shall be in coordination with state agencies.

⁴⁴ FLPMA requires a review. 43 U.S.C. §1712(f). The Forest Service Appeals Reform Act (16 U.S.C. §1612(a)), and National Forest Management Act (16 U.S.C. §1604(d)) require public reviews.

⁴⁵ 43 U.S.C. §1712(e)(2).

Federal Licenses and Fees

Section 107(b)(9) of S. 2363 states that the section does not authorize imposing a federal "license, fee, or permit to fish, hunt, or trap" on federal lands, excluding the Migratory Bird Stamp. (Recreational shooting is not included.) It is not clear if this is intended to prevent the *creation* of license or permit requirements based on this title, or whether existing authorizations for license, fees, and permits have been revoked. Land agencies already have permit requirements for some activities mandated in Section 107. 46 Because nearly all federal lands require a type of permit for activities that otherwise would be prohibited, this may require land management agencies to revise their regulations.

While Section 107(b)(9) does not authorize fees for fishing, hunting, or trapping, it does not exclude application of the Federal Lands Recreation Enhancement Act (FLREA). This could allow agencies to impose a type of recreation fee for activities other than fishing, hunting, or trapping, such as shooting ranges or war reenactments, for example, subject to that act's restrictions.47

Filming on Federal Lands

Section 108 of S. 2363 would reduce fees and facilitate access to "Federal land and waterways" for commercial film crews of up to five people. It would amend 16 U.S.C. 460l-6d to specify that such crews could obtain a permit for \$200, good for one year, for commercial filming in areas and times that are open to public use. No additional fees may be charged. The agency may deny access if resources may be damaged and the damage cannot be mitigated; if public use would be unreasonably disrupted; if the public would face health or safety risks; or if the filming would use "models or props that are not part of the natural or cultural resources or administrative facilities of the Federal land." Currently, such fees are variable and must generate a "fair return" based on the number of days of use, size of the crew, and amount and type of equipment.⁴⁸

Acquisition of Lands to Promote Hunting Access

Sometimes, the best access to federal land is through private property. At least two federal land management agencies, BLM and FS, have authority to acquire property to provide easier access to federal lands. ⁴⁹ The authority includes eminent domain.

Section 201 of S. 2363 would amend the Land and Water Conservation Fund Act⁵⁰ (LWCF) by directing that the Secretaries of the Interior and of Agriculture prepare priority lists to identify

⁴⁶ For a general discussion of land management policies and practices in the four federal land management agencies (BLM, FWS, NPS, and FS), see Appendix in CRS Report R42569, Hunting, Fishing, and Recreational Shooting on Federal Lands: H.R. 4089 and Related Legislation, coordinated by (name redacted).

⁴⁷ For discussion of the act, see CRS Report RL33730, Recreation Fees Under the Federal Lands Recreation Enhancement Act, by (name redacted).

⁴⁸ For more on the recent regulatory actions on commercial filming on federal lands, see CRS Report R43267, Commercial Filming and Photography on Federal Lands, by (name redacted).

⁴⁹ 43 U.S.C. §1715(a).

⁵⁰ 16 U.S.C. §4601. For more on LWCF, see CRS Report RL33531, Land and Water Conservation Fund: Overview, (continued...)

land or rights-of-way acquisition projects where access to federal public land for hunting, fishing, and other recreational purposes currently is "significantly restricted." The bill would require each agency in the two departments to devote the greater of \$10 million or 1.5% of the annual appropriation for LWCF to acquisition of lands, rights of way, or other interests from willing sellers to improve access for these activities. ⁵¹ The term *Federal public land* is not defined for this section either. The Department of the Interior agencies currently receiving LWCF appropriations are BLM, FWS, and NPS; for Agriculture, only FS receives LWCF funds. The section does not specify how the moneys set aside are to be divided among agencies or departments.

In addition, Section 107(b)(1) could be read as encouraging agencies to exercise their statutory authority to facilitate access to federal lands by acquiring property, such as easements, from adjoining property owners.

Federal Land Transaction Facilitation Act

Section 202 of S. 2363 would amend the Federal Land Transaction Facilitation Act (FLTFA). FLTFA was designed to allow proceeds from the disposal of public land to be used to acquire inholdings and other lands to improve federal land management.⁵² It focuses on acquiring property that adjoins protected sites such as wilderness areas and national parks. Under Section 205 of the current law, proceeds from the "sale or exchange of public land identified for disposal under approved land use plans" are to be put in the FLTFA fund. *Approved land use plans* are those made under the Federal Land Policy and Management Act (FLPMA) that were in effect as of the date FLTFA was enacted.⁵³

Section 206(a) of FLTFA states that "notwithstanding any other law [except for laws requiring proceeds to go into state trust funds] the gross proceeds of the sale or exchange of public land under this Act shall be deposited in a separate account in the Treasury of the United States to be known as the 'Federal Land Disposal Account.'"

Section 202 of S. 2363 would amend FLTFA by extending the expiration of the act and eliminating the expiration of the authorization of the FLTFA fund.⁵⁴ The current law prevents revenue going to the fund from sales of the lands listed under the Santini-Burton Act (P.L. 96-586),⁵⁵ and under the Southern Nevada Public Land Management Act of 1998 (P.L. 105-263). To that list, Section 202 would add lands in the following bills whose sales revenue would not accrue to the FLTFA fund, meaning these land sales would not have to share their revenues:

-

Funding History, and Issues, by (name redacted).

^{(...}continued)

⁵¹ The extent to which physical access is an obstacle to hunting or fishing on federal lands is unclear, though the issue is cited by supporters of this measure. For example, see http://www.taosnews.com/opinion/my_turn/article_8baf8c1a-dda8-11e1-a184-0019bb2963f4.html.

⁵² P.L. 106-248, §202. For more on FLTFA, see CRS Report R41863, *Federal Land Transaction Facilitation Act: Operation and Issues for Congress*, by (name redacted).

⁵³ P.L. 106-248, §205(a).

⁵⁴ The bill contains an internal inconsistency regarding the termination of Section 206(f). Section 13707 eliminates Section 206(f), but Section 13101(b)(2) amends it.

⁵⁵ Section 247 corrects a typographical error in current law (43 U.S.C. §2305) that incorrectly refers to P.L. 96-568.

- White Pine County [Nevada] Conservation, Recreation, and Development Act of 2006 (P.L. 109-432);
- Lincoln County [Nevada] Conservation, Recreation, and Development Act of 2004 (P.L. 108-424);
- Owyhee Wilderness, Nevada, in subtitle F of title I of the Omnibus Public Land Management Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-11, §1501);
- lands in Washington County, Utah, subtitle O of title I of the Omnibus Public Land Management Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-11, §1971);
- Carson City, Nevada, exchanges, Section 2601 of the Omnibus Public Land Management Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-11, §2601); and
- Douglas County, Washington, exchanges, Section 2606 of the Omnibus Public Land Management Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-11, §2606).

Wetlands Conservation

Section 203 of S. 2363 would reauthorize the North American Wetlands Conservation Act (16 U.S.C. §4406(c)(5)) through FY2019.

National Fish and Wildlife Foundation Act

Section 204 of S. 2363 would amend the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation Establishment Act. ⁵⁶ The Foundation is a federally chartered tax-deductible non-profit organization which accepts contributions for the benefit of wildlife and natural resource conservation. ⁵⁷ Among other things, the proposed changes would modify selection criteria for its Board of Directors and enlarge the Board's membership. It would clarify the Foundation's authority to receive restitution, mitigation, and other amounts from specified proceedings, so that these funds can be used for resource conservation. The changes also clarify that federal departments or agencies may provide funds to the Foundation that would be used for conservation and management of wildlife and other natural resources; the Foundation would be permitted to collect fees for managing these funds.

Further, federal agencies would have authority to waive competitive processes in awarding grants or contracts under the act if necessary to address a disaster, or if the head of the agencies determines that such a waiver would reduce administrative expenses. Gifts to the Foundation would be made available without further appropriation.

⁵⁶ 16 U.S.C. 3701 et seq.

⁵⁷ For more on the Foundation, see http://www.nfwf.org/Pages/default.aspx#.U7RinSgzN8E.

Author Contact Information

(name redacted)
Specialist in Natural Resources Policy
[redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank (name redacted), Legislative Attorney; Eugene Buck, Specialist in Natural Resources Policy (retired); and (name redacted), CRS Specialist in Environmental Policy (retired), for their contributions to an earlier version of this report.

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.